RECEIVED

Apr 02 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County

Honorable Alex Kinlaw, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

KEREEN DONYELL LEE,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-000745

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JORDAN WAYBURN
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Does Section 17-23-175 of the South Carolina Code require the child be visible in the "audio and visual recording" of her out-of-court-statement?
2. Did the trial court err by admitting appellant's statements made during a police interrogation that he is a "sex addict" and reasoning appellant's statements during the interrogation "put his character in issue" under Rule 404, SCRE?
3. Was the trial court's instruction sufficient to cure the inadmissible testimony revealing appellant had been in prison and that Minor's mother feared his presence around her children?
4. Does the Eighth Amendment or the South Carolina Constitution require an individualized hearing before imposing a life without parole sentence on someone who is intellectually disabled?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Kereen Lee was indicted on October 6, 2020, for first degree attempted criminal sexual conduct with a minor. R. *. The Department of Disabilities and Special Needs found him competent to stand trial following an evaluation on July 19, 2023. Court's Ex. 1. On April 22–24, 2024, he went to trial before Judge Alex Kinlaw, Jr. and a jury. Tr. dated 4/22–24/2024 at 1. He was represented by Michael Gambrell, and the state was represented by Seth Johnson and Anthony McCollum. Tr. 1. The jury found Lee guilty, and the court imposed a mandatory life sentence. Tr. 362:24-363:4, 371:13-20.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On March 31, 2020, the Fountain Inn Police Department responded to alleged criminal sexual conduct with a minor.¹ Tr. 221:1-6. Officer Jake Chupp arrived at the minor's house and immediately detained appellant Kereen Lee in his patrol car. Tr. 221:14-22. He then spoke with Minor and her mother Monique Bryant.² Tr. 222:16-23. Minor and Bryant briefly told Chupp their version of events, and then Chupp interviewed appellant in the back of his car. Court's Ex. 2, "Chupp BWC Full" at 2:00 to 9:40. Appellant is the brother of Bryant's long-term boyfriend. Tr. 179:4-6, 197:12-13. Appellant is intellectually disabled and his "functioning is in the extremely low range." Tr. 284:20-285:7; Court's Ex. 1.

Investigator James Paris then arrived on scene and interviewed Minor. Tr. 239:16-240:21. The interview was recorded on his bodycam. Court's Ex. 2; State's Ex. 2. Minor told Paris she was asleep when she "felt something hit [her] mouth" and that she saw "him standing above me trying to stick his stuff in my mouth with his hands behind his head." State's Ex. 2. at 0:45 to 1:40. She clarified "his stuff" referred to appellant's "privates." State's Ex. 2. at 1:45 to 2:15. She stated appellant ran away when he saw her wake up. State's Ex. 2 at 1:30 to 1:45. At no point during the statement is Minor visible; there is only an off-screen voice. State's Ex. 2. Prior to trial the state made a motion under South Carolina Code section 17-23-175 to use that recording at trial, and the trial court granted the motion. Mot. for Admission, dated April 22, 2024, p. 2; Tr. 87:10-13. At trial Minor testified to a similar version of events as she originally told Paris. Tr. 198:2-199:24.

¹ This is an overview of the facts presented. Other facts are presented below as relevant to each issue.

² The transcript incorrectly records her name as "Monquies."

Paris conducted two interviews of appellant back at the police station after he was arrested. Tr. 245:2-8. Those interviews were recorded and made part of Court's Exhibit 2, which is on file with this Court. Tr. 80:11-82:12. Redacted versions of the interviews were played for the jury in six parts as State's Exhibit 3, which are also on file with this Court. Tr. 244:17-245:21. In the interviews appellant consistently denied attempting to touch his penis to Minor's mouth, and he offered several different possibilities to explain Minor's accusation. Court's Exhibit 2.

The jury ultimately found appellant guilty. Tr. 362:24-363:4. Appellant then made a motion to quash the state's notice of its intention to seek a sentence of life without parole and "ask[ed] for an individualized sentencing hearing." Tr. 365:16-19. He argued sentencing him to life without parole would violate his "right not to be cruelly punished." Tr. 365:16-24. The trial court denied his motion and refused to allow a hearing on the issue because section 17-25-45 of the South Carolina Code, the two/three strikes law, required it to impose a life without parole sentence. Tr. 366:13-15.

This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

It is a question of law whether Section 17-23-175(A) required Minor to be visible on screen. It is also a question of law whether an individualized sentencing hearing is required before appellant can be sentenced to life without the possibility of parole. These questions are reviewed de novo on appeal. *S.C. Dep't of Soc. Servs. v. Boulware*, 422 S.C. 1, 6, 809 S.E.2d 223, 226 (2018) ("Questions of statutory interpretation are 'questions of law, which are subject to *de novo* review" (quoting *State v. Whitner*, 399 S.C. 547, 552, 732 S.E.2d 861, 863 (2012))); see *City of Rock Hill v. Harris*, 391 S.C. 149, 153, 705 S.E.2d 53, 55 (2011) (concerning constitutional interpretation).

Whether the trial court erred in the admission of evidence or the denial of a motion for a mistrial is reviewed to determine if the trial court acted within its discretion. *State v. Swafford*, 375 S.C. 637, 640, 654 S.E.2d 297, 299 (Ct. App. 2007) ("The admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge, whose decision will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion." (quoting *State v. Saltz*, 346 S.C. 114, 121, 551 S.E.2d 240, 244 (2001))); *State v. Bantan*, 387 S.C. 412, 417, 692 S.E.2d 201, 203 (Ct. App. 2010) ("The decision to grant or deny a mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be overturned on appeal absent an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law." (quoting *State v. Cooper*, 334 S.C. 540, 551, 514 S.E.2d 584, 590 (1999))).

ARGUMENT

I. Minor's Recorded Interview was not Admissible under Section 17-23-175

a. Subsection (A) Requires the Child be Visible in the Recording

Section 17-23-175(A) provides that in a criminal case, "an out-of-court statement of a child" is admissible if it satisfies four elements including that "an audio and visual recording of the statement is preserved . . . except as provided in subsection (F)." S.C. Code Ann. § 17-23-175(A)(2). At trial the state introduced State's Exhibit 2, a recording from Investigator Paris's bodycam where he interviewed Minor on the morning of appellant's arrest.³ State's Ex. 2; Tr. 241:3-11. Minor is never seen in that recording. Appellant objected to the recording because he could not "observe the child in the video [and] the statute says it's got to be audio and video." Tr. 76:22-77:4. The trial court overruled the objection. Tr. 87:10-13.

The trial court erred in admitting the video because it does not comply with the terms of the statute. "The purposes of subsection 17–23–175(A)(2) include giving the jurors direct access—audio and visual—to the victim's statements to enable the jurors to more accurately evaluate the victim's credibility." *State v. White*, 416 S.C. 135, 137, 784 S.E.2d 695, 696 (Ct. App. 2016); see *State v. Jacobs*, 393 S.C. 584, 587, 713 S.E.2d 621, 622-23 (2011) ("What a legislature says in the text of a statute is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent or will. Therefore, the courts are bound to give effect to the expressed intent of the legislature." (quoting *Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000))). A video recording that does not visually depict the child does not serve this purpose because the jury is not able to effectively evaluate the child's demeanor or, in this case, her demonstrations. This dark and

³ The full interview was included in Court's Exhibit 2 as "Interview of Victim by Paris" and is half an hour long. State's Exhibit 2 a five-and-a-half-minute excerpt. Both exhibits are on file with this Court.

grainy recording of a kitchen table and wall does not allow the jury to adequately evaluate her credibility. Just as a recording without any video would not satisfy the requirements, it should be equally clear a video recording without view of the child providing the statement is insufficient. *Cf. State v. Taylor*, 436 S.C. 28, 35, 870 S.E.2d 168, 172 (2022) ("We hold that in order for a DUI recording to 'show' a defendant being advised of his *Miranda* rights [under S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2953], the defendant and arresting officer must be visually seen and audibly heard.").

In addition to the plain language and purpose of the statute, its legislative history also supports the strict requirement of the recording. Section 17-23-175 was adopted as part of the Sex Offender Accountability and Protection of Minors Act of 2006. 2006 S.C. Acts 2737, 2747. The first version of the statute as proposed in the Senate did not include the audio and visual requirement now in subsection (A)(2). S.J. 1515 (Mar. 28, 2006), S. 1138, 2006 Gen. Assemb., 116th Sess. (S.C.). It required only what is effectively now subsection (A)(4): that the trial court find "the time, content, and circumstances of the statement provide sufficient guarantees of trustworthiness." *Id.*; *see* § 17-23-175(A)(4) (providing the statement is admissible only if, in addition to other requirements, "the court finds . . . the totality of the circumstances surrounding the making of the statement provides particularized guarantees of trustworthiness"). Then the House of Representatives amended the bill and included the additional requirements now in subsection (A). H.R. J. 4113 (May 31, 2006), S. 1138.

By amending the bill and requiring an audio-visual recording of the statement, the General Assembly expressed its intention that more was required. By specifying a recording is necessary the General Assembly ensured the jury itself would be able to directly view, hear, and evaluate the child's prior statement. *See White*, 416 S.C. at 137, 784 S.E.2d at 696. That increased reliability of the statement and its utility to the jury is the only justification for

admitting what would otherwise be hearsay. *State v. Russell*, 383 S.C. 447, 450-51, 679 S.E.2d 542, 543-44 (Ct. App. 2009) (explaining admission of a recording of a child's prior statement "would likely be error in absence of the statute" but that "the legislature has made a specific allowance for these out-of-court statements by child victims provided certain elements are met"); see *State v. Barrett*, 299 S.C. 485, 487, 386 S.E.2d 242, 243 (1989) (describing the "limited" hearsay exception to corroborate the "time and place" of a sexual assault and stating such evidence "may not include particulars or details"). Because there is no video of Minor the requirement in subsection (A)(2) was not met, and the trial court erred by admitting the video. See *State v. Foster*, 354 S.C. 614, 621, 582 S.E.2d 426, 430 (2003) ("[E]vidence of a prior consistent statement is **only** permitted when the elements of Rule 801(d)(1)(B) are met." (citing *State v. Saltz*, 346 S.C. 114, 124, 551 S.E.2d 240, 245 (2001))).

b. Subsection (F) does not Apply Because this is not an "Unrecorded Statement" and that subsection does not allow for the introduction of recordings

The General Assembly intended for subsection (A) to impose strict requirements for admission. Recognizing a recording would not always be available, however, in subsection (F) it allowed for a limited exception to the recording requirement. It provides:

Out-of-court statements made by a child in response to questioning during an investigative interview that is visually and auditorily recorded will always be given preference. If, however, an electronically unrecorded statement is made to a professional in his professional capacity by a child victim or witness regarding an act of sexual assault or physical abuse, the court may consider the statement in a hearing outside the presence of the jury to determine:

- (1) the necessary visual and audio recording equipment was unavailable;
- (2) the circumstances surrounding the making of the statement;

(3) the relationship of the professional and the child;
and

(4) if the statement possesses particularized
guarantees of trustworthiness.

After considering these factors and additional factors the court deems important, the court will make a determination as to whether the statement is admissible pursuant to the provisions of this section.

§ 17-23-175(F).

There are two reasons subsection (F) is inapplicable to the facts of this case. First, by the express language of the statute, the exception applies only to an "electronically unrecorded statement." The exception was intended to apply to statements made during an interview where there was no recording and no opportunity to record. Because interview was obviously recorded, the subsection does not and cannot apply.

Second, if Minor's statements during her interview could come in, the proper way to do that is through testimony rather than the statutorily inadequate recording. Subsection (F) cannot allow for the admission of a recording—that was plainly not the intention of the General Assembly. Therefore, as the statute clearly contemplates, the statement would need to be in the form of testimony from Investigator Paris or Minor. For these reasons subsection (F) cannot save the erroneous admission of this recording.

c. Admission was not Harmless

This error severely prejudiced appellant because repeating Minor's story and improperly corroborating her testimony with her prior consistent statement has a "devastating impact" in a case where credibility is everything. *Thompson v. State*, 423 S.C. 235, 249, 814 S.E.2d 487, 494 (2018) (quoting *Barrett*, 299 S.C. at 487, 386 S.E.2d at 243). There was no physical evidence. There was no other eyewitness except Minor. As in *Barrett*, "the State relied solely upon

Victim's testimony to establish the details of the crime and the identity of the perpetrator." 299 S.C. at 487, 386 S.E.2d at 243. Her credibility was therefore critical to the state's case, and the erroneous admission of her prior consistent statement was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *See Foster*, 354 S.C. at 624, 582 S.E.2d at 431 (erroneously admitted prior consistent statement not harmless where witness's testimony was "the crux" of the state's case).

II. Referring to Appellant as a "Sex Addict" Clearly Violates Rule 404, SCRE

During appellant's second interrogation by Investigator Paris, he asked appellant: "You a sex addict? You like having sex a lot?" State's Ex. 3, "Kereen Lee 3" at 9:00 to 9:10. Appellant responded, "I'm a scorpio," and he then explained "we more sex addicted than any other horoscope." State's Ex. 3, "Kereen Lee 3" at 9:10 to 9:40. Appellant objected to this portion of the interview because "that would go into prior behavior" and is impermissible Rule 404, SCRE propensity evidence. Tr. 150:4-10. Referring to *State v. Nelson*, 331 S.C. 1, 501 S.E.2d 716 (1998), the trial court accepted the general rule that "the State cannot attack the character of the defendant unless the defendant first places his character in issue." Tr. 151:13-152:6; *Nelson*, 331 S.C. at 6, 501 S.E.2d at 718 (citing *Mitchell v. State*, 298 S.C. 186, 188, 379 S.E.2d 123, 125 (1989)). However, the trial court reasoned appellant put his character in issue because "he put sex on the table when he answered the question," and thus the court overruled appellant's objection. Tr. 154:19-155:13.

The trial court erred because a defendant does not "put his character in issue" except by introducing evidence at trial. "Plainly, before the State may rebut evidence of a character trait of the accused, the accused must first offer evidence of that character trait into the trial." *State v. Williams*, 430 S.C. 136, 148, 844 S.E.2d 57, 64 (2020); *see also State v. Gibert*, 196 S.C. 306, 13 S.E.2d 451, 453 (1941) (citations omitted) ("[T]he prosecution cannot attack the character and

reputation of the accused . . . unless he first puts his character in issue *by introducing evidence to sustain the same.*" (emphasis added)). This general rule is longstanding: "[T]he state is not entitled to introduce evidence of the bad character or reputation of the accused unless he has clearly and expressly put his character in issue *by introducing evidence* of good character." 16 Corpus Juris, *Criminal Law* § 1122, at 580-81 (1918) (emphasis added) (footnotes omitted). The prohibition is now codified as Rule 404(a)(1), SCRE, which provides such evidence is admissible when "offered by an accused" and only then "by the prosecution *to rebut* the same." Rule 404(a)(1), SCRE (emphasis added). Where the defendant does not first introduce evidence of his good character, the state cannot introduce character evidence.

Appellant's pre-trial conduct during police interrogation does not mean he put his character in issue at trial. The state introduced the video before appellant introduced any evidence at all. Because appellant did not first put his character in issue at trial, the trial court erred by admitting this blatant propensity evidence. Further, not only did the state put his character in issue at trial, but during the interrogation Investigator Paris created the issue by asking the sex addict question. In absolutely no way did appellant introduce the topic or descriptor. It was therefore error to admit the evidence over appellant's objection.

That error was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The only relevance of the statement is for the state to suggest he is more likely to have committed this sex crime because he is a sex addict. That is precisely the type of evidence and argument Rule 404, SCRE is intended to prohibit. *State v. Perry*, 430 S.C. 24, 30, 842 S.E.2d 654, 657 (2020) ("Rule 404(b) prevents the State from introducing evidence of a defendant's other crimes for the purpose of proving his propensity to commit the crime for which he is currently on trial."). As explained above, there was no physical evidence of this crime nor any corroborating eyewitness. The

entire case depended on the jury's evaluation of Minor and appellant. Accusing appellant of being a sex addict, and his tacit admission of that fact, cannot be harmless in a sexual misconduct case.

III. The Curative Instruction was not Sufficient when the Jury Learned Appellant has a Criminal History because the Testimony was Directly Connected to Minor

Monique Bryant, Minor's mother, testified at trial. Tr. 174:10-15. In her direct- and cross-examinations, Bryant was asked about Minor and how often Minor stayed in the home in which appellant lived. Tr. 175:25-176:13, 180:9-24. She testified Minor and her other children lived with her mother (their grandmother) but sometimes they stayed with her. Tr. 175:25-176:7, 180:9-14. The following exchange occurred during cross-examination:

Q: Okay. And were your children with your mom for that four or five years [when you lived with appellant's brother]?

A: No.

Q: How long had they been with your mom?

A: They went with my mom when Kereen Lee got out of prison.

Tr. 180:19-24. Appellant immediately moved for a mistrial on the basis of this impermissible testimony because it violates Rule 404, SCRE, and the jury was removed from the courtroom.

Tr. 180-25:181-12, 185:9-12. The state agreed it was improper Rule 404(b) evidence. Tr. 181:16-23. The trial court denied the motion and provided a curative instruction over appellant's objection. Tr. 185:19-25, 187:16-22. The trial court instructed the jury:

Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, I instruct you that the last answer that was given by this witness was incorrect and should be stricken not only from your mind, but I'm instructing Madam Court Reporter to strike it from the record.

Tr. 187:16-20.

"The decision to grant or deny a motion for mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial court." *State v. Frazier*, 394 S.C. 213, 223, 715 S.E.2d 650, 655 (Ct. App. 2011) (citing *State v. Wasson*, 299 S.C. 508, 510, 386 S.E.2d 255, 256 (1989)). "[I]n order to receive a mistrial the defendant must show error and resulting prejudice." *State v. Frazier*, 394 S.C. 213, 223, 715 S.E.2d 650, 655 (Ct. App. 2011) (citing *State v. Council*, 335 S.C. 1, 13, 515 S.E.2d 508, 514 (1999)). "To prove prejudice, the complaining party must show there is a reasonable probability that the jury's verdict was influenced by the challenged evidence or lack thereof." *State v. Jenkins*, 408 S.C. 560, 575, 759 S.E.2d 759, 767 (Ct. App. 2014) (quoting *State v. Tennant*, 383 S.C. 245, 254, 678 S.E.2d 812, 817 (Ct. App. 2009), *aff'd as modified*, 394 S.C. 5, 714 S.E.2d 297 (2011)). Stated differently, a mistrial must be granted when a curative instruction is not likely to cure the prejudice beyond a reasonable doubt. *See State v. Inman*, 395 S.C. 539, 565, 720 S.E.2d 31, 45 (2011) (citation omitted) (mistrial should be granted when "the prejudicial effect can be removed in no other way").

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