RECEIVED

Nov 06 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY

Court of General Sessions
The Honorable Alex Kinlaw, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-000745

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

KEREEN DONYELL LEE,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

CINDY S. CRICK
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 E. North St.
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 467-8647

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court correctly admitted Minor's out-of-court recorded statement despite the fact that she was not fully visible throughout the video due to poor video quality.

In 2006, the legislature created a special rule of admissibility for out-of-court statements by alleged minor victims of abuse. S.C. Code Ann. §17-23-175.

Admissibility is conditioned on the statement's reliability, as determined by the trial court. The statute expresses a "preference" that the interview be audio and video recorded but does not specify any specific events or conduct which must be shown. Lee argues the trial court erred by admitting the recording of Minor's interview with police because Minor cannot be seen throughout the video due to its poor quality. The trial court correctly admitted the video because it fulfilled the statutory purpose of ensuring the statement was reliable and Minor's clearly-audible statement provided valuable evidence despite the video's imperfections. This Court should affirm.

A. Standard of Review.

The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court and its ruling will not be disturbed in the absence of a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice. State v. Douglas, 369 S.C. 424, 429–30, 632 S.E.2d 845, 847–48 (2006). An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law. Id.

B. Issue preservation.

This issue is not preserved for review. Lee objected to admission of the video during a pretrial hearing, and the trial court ruled the video was admissible. (R.pp.17–20; p.28). However, the State did not introduce the video during Minor’s testimony. Rather, Lee published a portion of the video during his cross-examination of Minor. Specifically, counsel published a portion of the video wherein Minor states Lee’s hands were behind his head when he assaulted her. (R.p.153). Minor’s face is not visible in this portion of the video. By publishing a portion of the previously objected-to video, Lee waived his objection. See State v. Robinson, 396 S.C. 577, 583, 722 S.E.2d 820, 823 (Ct. App. 2012), affd as modified, 410 S.C. 519, 765 S.E.2d 564 (2014) (explaining a defendant may not complain of admission of evidence when he introduced the same kind of evidence on cross-examination).

Later, the State offered a redacted copy of the video during the testimony of Investigator James Paris. Lee specifically stated he had “no objection.” In affirmatively stating he had no objection, Lee waived any challenge to the video. See State v. Dicapua, 373 S.C. 452, 455, 646 S.E.2d 150, 152 (Ct. App. 2007), affd, 383 S.C. 394, 680 S.E.2d 292 (2009) (“As the record reflects, Dicapua's sole objection to the videotape came in the form of a motion in limine to suppress the videotape because of its lack of audio. Once the State moved to enter the videotape into evidence and publish it to the jury, however, Dicapua's counsel specifically stated he had ‘no objection.’ We find this amounted to a waiver of any issue Dicapua had with the videotape.”).

C. Discussion.

Minor's redacted statement, Court's Exhibit #3, is on file with this court. The interview takes place in a poorly lit room, with only natural light coming from a window. Investigator Paris is seated at a table taking notes. It is apparent that Minor is to his left, hidden by a shadow. Paris's questions and Minor's answers can be clearly heard. Later, Minor moves to Paris's right in order to complete a written statement. Her face is visible at this point. Later, Minor shows Paris where the assault occurred. Her face is visible here as well, though it again becomes obscured by darkness.

Despite the poor visibility, the statement was admissible. §175 does not require perfection. In State v. White, the trial court admitted a minor victim's recorded interview even though "the video of the forensic interview contained some sound but was not clearly audible." State v. White, 416 S.C. 135, 137, 784 S.E.2d 695, 696 (Ct. App. 2016). This Court affirmed, explaining "the trial court must use its discretion in determining whether the admission of a forensic interview meets the requirement of and is consistent with the purposes of subsection 17-23-175(A)(2)." Id. at 138, 784 S.E.2d at 696.

Lee cites White's statement that the "purposes of subsection 17-23-175(A)(2) include giving the jurors direct access—audio and visual—to the victim's statements to enable the jurors to more accurately evaluate the victim's credibility." Id. at 137, 784 S.E.2d at 696 (emphasis added). Despite the video's flaws, it achieved this purpose. It also fulfilled the other primary statutory purpose: to provide concrete

documentation of out-of-court statements so that trial courts can accurately ensure the reliability of those statements.

Lee compares §175 to the DUI statute's breath and incident site video requirement. S.C. Code Ann. §56-5-2953. But §175 differs from the DUI statute in important respects. §175 governs the admissibility of the minor's "statement." The DUI statute governs the admissibility of the "video." Unlike the DUI statute, §175, by its plain language, does not require the video recording to "include" or "show" any specific events. Cf. §2953 (providing incident site recording must "include any field sobriety tests administered . . . [and] show the person being advised of his Miranda rights") (emphasis added); see also State v. Taylor, 436 S.C. 28, 33, 870 S.E.2d 168, 171 (2022) (interpreting meaning of the word "show" in DUI video statute); Town of Mt. Pleasant v. Roberts, 393 S.C. 332, 347, 713 S.E.2d 278, 285 (2011) (explaining purpose of §2953 is "to create direct evidence of a DUI arrest"). §175 only establishes a "preference" that the statement be "preserved on film, videotape, or other electronic means" S.C. Code Ann. § 17-23-175 (A) and (F).

The video and audio recording achieved its primary purpose of aiding the trial court's determination whether the out-of-court statement is reliable and therefore admissible. The video was sufficient to allow the court to ensure that the other §175 factors were present: e.g., whether the interviewer used leading questions and whether the statement is internally coherent. And despite its imperfections, the video provided valuable evidence of Lee's guilt because it accurately portrayed Minor's near-contemporaneous account of the sexual assault.

Subsection (F) provides for the admission of an “unrecorded statement.” If the video recording in this case is as useless as Lee argues, then it qualifies as an unrecorded statement under the statute and may be admissible under subsection (F) if the four enumerated factors “and additional factors the court deems important” support the court’s decision that the statement is admissible. As White explains, it is within the trial court’s discretion to determine whether the recorded statement satisfies the purposes of §175 and therefore should be admitted. The trial court properly admitted the video in this case.

Lee argues Minor’s statement is not admissible under subsection (F) because a video exists, and (F) only applies where there is no recording at all. He argues the “proper way” to introduce Minor’s statement would be through testimony. This argument conflicts with his prior argument that the purpose of the statute is to produce audio and visual evidence of the out-of-court statement. Lee’s reading of §175 would produce absurd results, permitting out-of-court statements which were not recorded at all through less reliable oral testimony but rigidly excluding recorded statements which accurately document out-of-court statements but which are flawed in some way. This interpretation would not be consistent with the statutory purpose of providing for admissibility of reliable out-of-court statements by alleged child victims. See State v. Sweat, 386 S.C. 339, 350, 688 S.E.2d 569, 575 (2010) (“In interpreting a statute, the language of the statute must be read in a sense which harmonizes with its subject matter and accords with its general purpose.”). This Court should affirm.

II. The trial court correctly admitted Lee’s voluntary recorded statement explaining how he exposed his erect penis to a 10-year-old, and Lee was not prejudiced by inclusion of the interviewing officer’s question whether Lee was a “sex addict” in response to his noncredible explanation why his penis was erect.

Lee argues the trial court should not have admitted a portion of his recorded statement wherein the interviewing officer asks whether he is a “sex addict.” The question was part of a back-and-forth exchange between Lee and the interviewer regarding graphic subject matter and was relevant to place Lee’s highly probative statement into context. The State did not argue or elicit evidence attempting to prove Lee actually was a “sex addict.” This Court should affirm.

A. Standard of review.

The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court and its ruling will not be disturbed in the absence of a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice. State v. Douglas, 369 S.C. 424, 429–30, 632 S.E.2d 845, 847–48 (2006). An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law. Id.

B. Discussion.

The exchange took place during Lee’s interview with the police investigator wherein he and the officer discuss overtly sexual matters regarding the accusation that Lee attempted to put his penis in a child’s mouth. State’s Exhibit #3. Specifically, the investigator was seeking clarification as to why Lee’s erect penis was out of his pants in the same room as a 10-year-old child. The investigator told Lee that, as a 30-something-year-old man, his penis does not become erect every

time “the wind blows.” Lee disagreed, explaining his penis becomes erect “on its own.” This prompted the investigator’s question whether he was a “sex addict.”

By agreeing to speak with police, Lee opened himself up to pointed questions. The question was intended to elicit a response from Lee, not to show he actually was a “sex addict.” The State did not attempt to introduce evidence to prove Lee was a sex addict, and the solicitor did not argue Lee was a sex addict or “refer” to Lee as a sex addict. Thus the video did not violate Rule 404(b). The investigator was questioning Lee about the central facts of the case. He asked the question, received a response, and moved on.

Lee’s statement to police had high probative value. Lee’s statement and Minor’s statement were by far the most important pieces of evidence. The jury was entitled to hear his explanation. See Rule 403, SCRE (explaining evidence may be excluded when its probative value is “substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice”).

The danger of unfair prejudice must be viewed in relation to other graphic evidence introduced at trial. The jurors were exposed to overtly sexual language and disturbing accusations. There is not a reasonable probability their findings of fact were improperly influenced by the investigator’s use of the phrase “sex addict.” See State v. Workman, 443 S.C. 369, 378, 905 S.E.2d 119, 123 (2024) (error is harmless where it had “little, if any, likelihood of having changed the result of the trial”). This Court should affirm.

III. The trial court correctly refused to declare a mistrial based on a witness's testimony revealing Lee had been to prison.

Lee argues the trial court abused its discretion by refusing to declare a mistrial when Mother—in response to a question by defense counsel—testified Minor stopped living with her when Lee moved in when he was released from prison. The trial court properly denied the motion because the testimony did not warrant the extreme remedy of mistrial. This Court should affirm.

A. Standard of review.

The decision to grant or deny a mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be overturned on appeal absent an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law. State v. Bantan, 387 S.C. 412, 417, 692 S.E.2d 201, 203 (Ct. App. 2010).

B. Discussion.

On cross-examination, defense counsel questioned Mother about her living situation and how long Minor had been living with Mother's mother. Mother responded Minor and her other child went to live with her mother "when Kereen Lee got out of prison." (R.p.121). Lee moved for a mistrial. The State opposed the motion, arguing defense counsel was aware of Lee's criminal history and should have asked his question more carefully. (R.p.123). The State requested a curative instruction, to which Lee objected. The court denied Lee's mistrial motion and gave a curative instruction. The court instructed the jury that "the last answer that was given by this witness was incorrect and should be stricken . . . from your mind" (R.p.128).

The trial court did not abuse its discretion. “The granting of a motion for mistrial is an extreme measure that should be taken only when the incident is so grievous the prejudicial effect can be removed in no other way.” Bantan, 387 S.C. at 417, 692 S.E.2d at 203. A mistrial should be granted only when “absolutely necessary” in cases of “manifest necessity and with the greatest caution for very plain and obvious reasons.” Id. The trial court should exhaust other methods to cure possible prejudice before aborting a trial. Id.

Mother’s testimony did not present the “manifest necessity” of mistrial. See State v. Hurell, 424 S.C. 341, 357, 818 S.E.2d 21, 29 (Ct. App. 2018) (affirming denial of mistrial where witness “inadvertently told the jury [defendant] had been in prison”). The comment did not suggest Lee had a history of abusing children. The jury had already heard there was limited room in the house and that Minor or her siblings slept on the couch or in an outbuilding when they visited. (R.p.117). The jury also heard that Mother lived with Lee’s brother, James Lee, her partner of 19 years. (R.p.120). The natural conclusion would be that Minor moved to her grandmother’s house because there was simply no room at James Lee’s house after he made room for his brother Kereen.

Further, the trial court gave a curative instruction, telling the jury Mother’s “last answer . . . was incorrect and should be stricken not only from your mind, but I’m instructing Madam Court Reporter to strike it from the record.” (R.p.128). “If the trial judge sustains a timely objection to testimony and gives the jury a curative instruction to disregard the testimony, the error is deemed to be cured.” State v.

Walker, 366 S.C. 643, 658, 623 S.E.2d 122, 129–30 (Ct. App. 2005). This Court should affirm.

IV. Lee was not prejudiced by any of the trial court's evidentiary rulings.

Even if this Court finds error in any of the three evidentiary issues, the error would be harmless. No rational juror could have viewed the evidence in this case and found Lee not guilty. Not only was Minor's testimony consistent, credible, and corroborated, Lee's statement erased any doubt as to his guilt. Lee all but confessed to this crime. He admitted he took out his erect penis near a 10-year-old child, explaining he was looking at her to gratify his sexual urges. None of his attempts at explaining away his conduct come close to a credible explanation. Defense counsel conceded in closing that Lee took his erect penis out near a 10-year-old child and seemingly conceded Lee touched the child's lips with his penis, arguing only that Lee did not have the intent to commit CSC. None of the alleged errors could have reasonably affected the result of trial.

V. Lee's LWOP sentence is constitutional even though he is intellectually disabled.

Lee argues his mandatory life without parole sentence is cruel and unusual punishment because he is intellectually disabled. His sentence is constitutional because it is proportionate with the crime and his prior record and mandatory LWOP upon conviction of a third "serious" offense is consistent with contemporary values as evidenced by the act itself. This Court should affirm.

A. Standard of review.

When considering the constitutionality of a statute, the appellate court presumes the statute is constitutional, and must uphold the statute unless it finds beyond a reasonable doubt it does not conform to the constitution. Owens v. Stirling, 443 S.C. 246, 260–61, 904 S.E.2d 580, 587 (2024). The party challenging the constitutionality of a statute must prove it is unconstitutional. Id.

B. Discussion.

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